

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Disease-modifying pharmacological treatments for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease: an overview of intervention reviews (Protocol)

Balendra R, Orrell RW, Pearce N, Al-Chalabi A

Balendra R, Orrell RW, Pearce N, Al-Chalabi A. Disease-modifying pharmacological treatments for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease: an overview of intervention reviews (Protocol). *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2023, Issue 3. Art. No.: CD014202. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD014202.

www.cochranelibrary.com

Disease-modifying pharmacological treatments for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease: an overview of intervention reviews (Protocol) Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

WILEY



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	1
BACKGROUND	2
OBJECTIVES	3
METHODS	3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	5
REFERENCES	6
APPENDICES	10
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	10
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	10
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	11

Disease-modifying pharmacological treatments for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease: an overview of intervention reviews (Protocol)

[Overview of Reviews Protocol]

Disease-modifying pharmacological treatments for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease: an overview of intervention reviews

Rubika Balendra^{1,2}, Richard W Orrell³, Neil Pearce⁴, Ammar Al-Chalabi⁵

¹Department of Neurodegenerative Disease, UCL Queen Square Institute of Neurology, London, UK. ²UK Dementia Research Institute at UCL, UCL Cruciform Building, London, UK. ³Department of Clinical and Movement Neurosciences, UCL Queen Square Institute of Neurology, London, UK. ⁴Department of Medical Statistics, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, UK. ⁵Department of Clinical Neuroscience, Institute of Psychiatry, King's College London, London, UK

Contact: Ammar Al-Chalabi, ammar.al-chalabi@kcl.ac.uk.

Editorial group: Cochrane Neuromuscular Group. **Publication status and date:** New, published in Issue 3, 2023.

Citation: Balendra R, Orrell RW, Pearce N, Al-Chalabi A. Disease-modifying pharmacological treatments for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/ motor neuron disease: an overview of intervention reviews (Protocol). *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2023, Issue 3. Art. No.: CD014202. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD014202.

Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Objectives

This is a protocol for a Cochrane Review (overview). The objectives are as follows:

To summarise the evidence from Cochrane and non-Cochrane systematic reviews of pharmacological disease-modifying treatments for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease.



BACKGROUND

Description of the condition

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), which is the most common form of motor neuron disease (MND), is a fatal neurodegenerative disorder characterised by the progressive loss of upper motor neurons in the motor cortex and lower motor neurons in the brainstem and spinal cord (Brown 2017; Kiernan 2011). Most people with ALS die within three to five years of diagnosis, primarily due to respiratory failure, although a small proportion live for longer than 10 years (Turner 2003). ALS is on a clinical, genetic and pathological spectrum with frontotemporal lobar dementia (FTLD), which is characterised by memory loss, cognitive and behavioural dysfunction, and pathologically by degeneration of the frontal and temporal cortices (Ling 2013). In people with European ancestry, the lifetime risk of ALS is one in 300 (Alonso 2009; Johnston 2006), with an estimated incidence of two per 100,000 population and prevalence of five per 100,000 population (Chio 2013). ALS is predominantly a disease of ageing, with the risk of developing the disease increasing with age; the peak age of incidence occurs between 50 and 70 years, although the age of onset is wide with 10% of people having a younger age of onset (less than 45 years) (Turner 2013). In addition, men are more commonly affected than women (Brown 2017). The majority of ALS is classified as sporadic disease, but in 10% to 15% of cases there is a familial inheritance pattern (Brown 2017).

The diagnosis of ALS is made based on clinical findings. The patient history and clinical examination reveal features of progressive upper and lower motor neuron dysfunction, without sensory or autonomic features, and in the absence of other disease processes that could explain the clinical findings. Patients can present with a variety of symptoms, but commonly the disease begins with focal weakness, spreading to affect other regions (Al-Chalabi 2016). Approximately 30% of patients initially present with bulbar disease, features of which include dysphagia, dysarthria and sialorrhoea. The underlying causes of sialorrhoea are tongue spasticity and weakness of the facial, mouth and pharyngeal muscles; loss of oropharyngeal co-ordination and function; and subsequent inability to swallow secretions (James 2022). The revised El Escorial criteria are used to diagnose ALS; however, these tend to be used for selecting and stratifying patients for clinical trials and research studies, with three diagnostic categories: clinically definite, probable or possible ALS (Brooks 1994; Brooks 2000). Furthermore, the Awaji criteria detail specific features on electromyography (EMG) investigations, which can greatly assist the diagnosis (de Carvalho 2008). The El Escorial diagnostic criteria have recently been superseded by the Gold Coast criteria for the diagnosis of ALS (Shefner 2020). Cognitive impairment can occur in up to 80% of people with ALS (Crockford 2018), and up to 15% of people with ALS have a clinical diagnosis of FTD (Ling 2013; Ringholz 2005).

The neurobiology underlying disease mechanisms in ALS is complex, and there have been significant discoveries unravelling the underlying disease process over recent decades. Key genetic findings have transformed our understanding of the disease, and several genes are now implicated in the disease process. Hexanucleotide GGGGCC expansions in the *C9orf72* gene are the most frequent genetic cause of ALS, and *SOD1* mutations also account for a relatively large proportion of cases (Al-Chalabi 2012; DeJesus-Hernandez 2011; Marangi 2015; Renton 2011; Renton 2014). The pathological hallmark of ALS and a large proportion of FTLD is cytoplasmic inclusions of transactive response DNA-binding protein (TDP-43), a highly conserved and ubiquitous ribonucleic acid (RNA)- and DNA-binding protein, which becomes mislocalised from the nucleus and ubiquitinated and hyperphosphorylated in disease (Buratti 2001; Buratti 2004; Mercado 2005; Neumann 2006). TDP-43 and FUS mutations also lead to ALS or FTD (or both) (Sreedharan 2008; Vance 2009), and several other genes have been implicated in these diseases, including PGRN, UBQLN2, SQSTM1, PFN1, ANG, VCP, MATR3, TUB4A and TBK1 (Abel 2012; Al-Chalabi 2017; ALSoD 2021). Overall, the implicated genes suggest dysregulation of protein homeostasis, RNA metabolism and cytoskeletal dysfunction as critical to molecular pathogenesis in the disease (Ling 2013). In vitro and in vivo models of disease and pathological studies have yielded insights into autonomous and non-autonomous cellular processes which become dysfunctional in ALS. These include autophagy, oxidative stress, the unfolded protein response, the ubiquitin-proteasome system, synaptic activity and excitotoxicity, mitochondrial function, RNA transport and processing, axonal function and transport, and the function of glia, including astrocytes and microglia (Brown 2017; Robberecht 2013). Therapeutic strategies have been developed to mitigate several of these dysfunctional processes; however, thus far few have yielded positive results in Phase II/III clinical trials, and the reasons for this are multifactorial (Mitsumoto 2014). The revised Airlie House consensus guidelines, and the more recent Gold Coast criteria, should standardise and improve the quality of both preclinical and clinical studies, with the ultimate goal of maximising the chances of finding effective therapies (van den Berg 2019).

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) has published comprehensive guidelines for the assessment and management of ALS (NICE 2019). Importantly, ALS should be managed by a multidisciplinary clinical team which includes a neurologist, specialist nurse, dietician, physiotherapist, occupational therapist, respiratory physiologist, and speech and language therapist, and the team should have close contact with several other services, including palliative care support, gastroenterology, respiratory ventilation support, clinical psychology, and orthotics and assistive technology. Currently, the mainstay of treatment is optimising quality of life through the management of symptoms, nutrition and respiratory failure, with consideration of gastrostomy and ventilatory support, and implementation of end of life care. Riluzole is a licensed diseasemodifying treatment for ALS, and prolongs life by two to three months at 12 months into the disease duration (Bensimon 1994; Lacomblez 1996; Miller 2012), with survival benefits demonstrated at early and late stages of the disease (De Jongh 2019; Fang 2018; Thakore 2020). Non-invasive ventilatory support can also prolong life by approximately six months in some patient subgroups (Bourke 2006; Radunovic 2017). Edaravone, an antioxidant drug, has been shown to slow the rate of functional decline as measured by the Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Functional Rating Scale (ALSFRS-R) in one Phase III trial (Writing Group 2017). It has now been licensed for people with ALS in Japan, the USA, Canada, South Korea and Switzerland.

Description of the interventions

This review is an overview of Cochrane and non-Cochrane systematic reviews of disease-modifying pharmacological

Disease-modifying pharmacological treatments for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease: an overview of intervention reviews (Protocol)



treatments for ALS, which are those hypothesising to target the underlying disease process in ALS/MND. This review will not include pharmacological and non-pharmacological treatments for symptoms of ALS, which is the subject of a previous Cochrane overview of reviews (Ng 2017).

How the intervention might work

The interventions aim to target underlying disease processes involved in ALS.

Neurotrophic factors

A lack of trophic factors, which are molecules promoting cell survival and differentiation, may underlie the degeneration of motor neurons in ALS. Therefore, the use of trophic factors such as ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF), could lead to increased motor neuron survival (Mitsumoto 1994; Selvaraj 2013; Sendtner 1992). Furthermore, recombinant human insulin-like growth factor I (rhIGF-I) has neurotrophic effects on motor neurons in disease models (Hantai 1995). On the basis of promising preclinical studies, these therapies have progressed to clinical trials in people with ALS/MND.

Antioxidants and mitochondrial function

Oxidative stress contributes to motor neuron degeneration in ALS, where free radicals accumulate and endogenous antioxidant defence mechanisms are unable to prevent their effects and oxidative damage (Goodall 2006). This leads to damage to nucleic acids, proteins and lipids, and ultimately cell death. Antioxidant enzymes, such as superoxide dismutase, reduce the effects of these free radicals. Therefore, antioxidant agents could be utilised as therapies in ALS to reduce free radical oxidative damage. Antioxidants can be derived from nutrient sources, and include vitamins C and E, and carotenes.

Furthermore, ALS affects mitochondrial energy metabolism and function (Goodall 2006; Robberecht 2013). Creatine is a nitrogenous organic acid that has antioxidant effects and may improve mitochondrial function (Adhihetty 2008).

Excitotoxicity

Imbalances in the excitatory neurotransmitter glutamate and inhibitory neurotransmitter gamma aminobutyric acid (GABA) may lead to ALS, by causing excitotoxicity and cell death (Rao 2004). Increased levels of GABA and glutamate have been reported in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of people with ALS (Niebroj-Dobosz 1999; Shaw 1995).

Riluzole blocks presynaptic glutamate release, and may therefore prevent glutamate excitotoxicity. GABA modulators, such as gabapentin, which has conformational properties similar to the structure of GABA, may also act in this pathway.

Other mechanisms

Other potential mechanisms of treatment include antiinflammatory and anti-apoptotic agents.

Why it is important to do this overview

There are six published Cochrane Reviews in the Cochrane Library for pharmacological disease-modifying treatments for ALS (Beauverd 2012; Bongioanni 2004; Diana 2017; Miller 2012;

Orrell 2007; Pastula 2012). An overview of the Cochrane and non-Cochrane systematic reviews of treatments for ALS in one document will enable clinicians, researchers and policymakers to access a single source of information. An overview of reviews will help to crystallise the information from systematic reviews, so that the effect of interventions for ALS and the certainty of the evidence are presented in an accessible format. Where possible, it will enable direct and indirect comparison of the effectiveness of the different interventions included. The results of this overview may help to inform best practice and areas where further research is needed.

OBJECTIVES

To summarise the evidence from Cochrane and non-Cochrane systematic reviews of pharmacological diseasemodifying treatments for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease.

METHODS

We will complete the overview according to the recommendations in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Pollock 2021).

Criteria for considering reviews for inclusion

Types of reviews

As suggested by the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic reviews of Interventions* (Pollock 2021), we will consider all Cochrane and non-Cochrane systematic reviews of randomised controlled trials (RCTs) and quasi-RCTs (such as alternate allocation) of disease-modifying treatments for ALS/MND.

Cochrane Reviews have:

- predefined objectives;
- predefined criteria for eligibility of evidence;
- an objective systematic search for evidence applying predetermined inclusion and exclusion criteria; and
- explicit and systematic methods for synthesising evidence which attempt to reduce bias.

Non-Cochrane systematic reviews may cover relevant interventional comparisons and data that are not available in Cochrane Reviews. We will also identify ongoing systematic reviews and any systemic review updates that are in progress, and update the overview as these are published.

Furthermore, if during data collection we find RCTs of other therapies that have not yet been included in a Cochrane Review, we will draw the attention of Cochrane Neuromuscular to the existence of the studies so that they could be included in an existing or new review.

Types of participants

We will include participants with a diagnosis of ALS/MND. Some trials will state whether the included participants met the World Federation of Neurology El Escorial diagnostic criteria for ALS/MND or the revised diagnostic criteria, but other trials performed prior to the existence of these criteria may not. We will quantify the number of trials predating the World Federation of Neurology El Escorial diagnostic criteria, and include these with the other trials, with the

Disease-modifying pharmacological treatments for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease: an overview of intervention reviews (Protocol)

Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Cochrane

understanding that some of the participants may not have met the criteria. We will include participants of all ages, all types of onset and familial or sporadic disease.

Types of interventions

We will include all types of disease-modifying pharmacological treatment for the underlying disease process in ALS/MND. Where possible, we will try to compare these interventions to each other and to placebo or usual care. We will not be including treatments for the symptoms of the disease, as these are featured in a separate Cochrane overview of symptomatic treatments (Ng 2017).

Types of outcomes

The outcome measures we will use reflect those used in the Cochrane systematic reviews and those most relevant to people with ALS.

Primary outcome

• Tracheostomy-free survival

Secondary outcomes

- Functional scores measured by a validated functional rating scale
- Quality of life and health-related quality of life
- Muscle strength
- Respiratory function or forced vital capacity (FVC) or vital capacity (VC)
- Adverse effects of the treatment
- Neurophysiological measurements: motor unit number estimate (MUNE) and neurophysiological index

These are all measures that are frequently used in ALS clinical trials. For functional scales, quality of life scores and muscle strength scores, we will prioritise scales that have been validated as having good reproducibility, face validity and correlation with other scales measuring the same attribute. The revised ALSFRS-R is a commonly used, validated, functional scale which uses a 4-point scoring system for 12 questions to assess function in a range of domains of speech; salivation and swallowing; turning in bed; walking; climbing stairs; dressing and hygiene; handwriting; cutting food; and respiratory insufficiency, dyspnoea and orthopnoea. This is a good example of an appropriate functional scale.

We will also report on adverse effects of the treatment, including those that are fatal or lead to severe morbidity or hospitalisation, and on more common adverse effects of the treatment. Where there is information regarding the number of participants who have withdrawn from the trial due to adverse effects, we will also report on this.

Search methods for identification of reviews

The Cochrane Neuromuscular Information Specialist will search the following sources without any language, date, document type, or publication status limitations:

- Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews via the Cochrane Library (Appendix 1);
- MEDLINE via OvidSP (1946 to search date; Appendix 2);
- Embase via OvidSP (1974 to search date; Appendix 3);

• Epistemonikos (until search date; Appendix 4).

We will use the modified version of Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network's systematic review search filters for MEDLINE and Embase.

The Information Specialist will search for errata or retractions related to included reviews, and the overview authors will examine retrieved retraction statements and errata.

We will record the search process in sufficient detail to prepare a PRISMA study flow diagram.

Data collection and analysis

We will use the following methods of data collection and data analysis in this overview of systematic reviews.

Selection of reviews

Two overview authors (RB and RWO) will select Cochrane and non-Cochrane systematic reviews suitable for inclusion and a third overview author will act as arbiter in the event of disagreements. We will document reasons for exclusion in a Characteristics of excluded reviews table. Overview authors will not decide selection of any reviews of which they are an author.

Data extraction and management

Two overview authors (RB and RWO) will independently collect data from published Cochrane and non-Cochrane systematic reviews of pharmacological disease-modifying treatments for ALS. Overview authors will not collect data from any reviews of which they are an author. We will use the data collection and synthesis methodology outlined in the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic *Reviews of Interventions* (Pollock 2021). We will collect data using a standardised data collection form, which we will pilot prior to use. If we require further information, we will contact the authors of the relevant systematic review, and if necessary, the authors of the original study. If there are overlapping reviews for the same research question, we will assess if they have overlapping primary studies. We will include all non-overlapping reviews, and select the highest quality systematic review for groups of overlapping reviews. Each author will use the revised Assessment of Multiple Systematic reviews (AMSTAR 2) tool to assess each overlapping review (Shea 2009; Shea 2017). Based upon their interpretation of the results of this tool, each overview author will assess which is the highest quality. We will discuss any discrepancies to reach a consensus, and for any disagreements, a third overview author will act as arbiter.

We will collect information on types and numbers of participants, whether they meet World Federation of Neurology El Escorial diagnostic criteria for ALS, types of interventions covered in the review, the outcome measures reported and length of follow-up.

We will enter data into Review Manager Web (RevMan Web 2022). We will complete Characteristics of reviews tables for included reviews, reviews awaiting assessment and ongoing reviews.

Assessment of methodological quality of included reviews

Two overview authors, neither of whom will be an author of the included review, will independently assess the methodological quality of each review included in the overview using the AMSTAR

Copyright \odot 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Disease-modifying pharmacological treatments for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease: an overview of intervention reviews (Protocol)



2 tool. This tool has acceptable inter-rater agreement, construct validity and feasibility (Shea 2009; Shea 2017). The items of this tool will be collected into a table, and all 12 domains specified in the AMSTAR 2 tool will be addressed. If there are disagreements in the assessments, a third overview author will act as arbiter. We will not repeat the assessment of eligibility, the assessment of risk of bias, or meta-analyses from the included reviews, nor identify any additional studies, or extract additional outcomes from individual studies included in the original systematic reviews.

Risk of bias of primary studies included in reviews

Where a risk of bias assessment is already available in the systematic review, we will extract this. Otherwise, we will use a comprehensive assessment of risk of bias using the Cochrane RoB 1 tool and assessing risk of bias domains as detailed in the methodology outlined in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2017; Pollock 2021).

If there are discrepancies in risk of bias assessments or data in overviews that have collected data from the same primary study, we will return to the primary study to verify the accuracy of extracted data or risk of bias assessment, and perform a reanalysis.

Certainty of evidence in included reviews

Two overview authors will independently assess the certainty of the evidence in the included reviews using the GRADE approach (Guyatt 2008). Where a GRADE assessment is already available in the systematic review, we will extract this. The overview authors will check any criteria used by the review authors for making assessments and whether we agree with the GRADE assessments made within the reviews to ensure consistency across reviews. If there are inconsistencies in GRADE approaches across reviews, the overview authors will independently make their own assessments for each outcome of each review. The GRADE approach enables evaluation of the certainty of evidence, according to four grades: high, moderate, low and very low. These gradings are influenced by any study limitations; inconsistencies in the data (heterogeneity); uncertainty regarding direct impact of the findings; imprecise or sparse data; reporting bias (which are the five reasons for downgrading the evidence); or large magnitude of effect, evidence of association or dose response; and any confounders working to reduce the demonstrated effect or increase the effect, if no effect was observed (three reasons for upgrading the evidence).

If there are disagreements in the GRADE assessments, a third overview author will act as arbiter.

Data synthesis

The main method for presenting the data will be as a narrative review. We will present narrative summaries of the outcome data from each included systematic reviews in turn. We will use the GRADE approach to present the evidence for each intervention from each systematic review. We will not explore subgroups.

Summary of findings

We will collate the information in an overview of systematic reviews presented as a summary of findings table, which will include references to indicate which outcome data come from which systematic review. This table will include the participants, interventions studied, comparisons made, outcomes and outcome measures used, and the certainty of the evidence for each outcome according to the GRADE system. We will present descriptive data at the level of each systematic review. If data are missing from the systematic review, we will note the gap in coverage in the Overview. We will not repeat the meta-analyses from the included reviews, unless there have been discrepancies in risk of bias assessments or data in reviews that have collected data from the same primary study. In this case, we will return to the primary study to verify the accuracy of extracted data or risk of bias assessment, and perform a repeat meta-analysis.

Assessment of bias in conducting the overview

We will conduct the overview according to this published protocol, and report any deviations from it in the 'Differences between protocol and review' section.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank the Cochrane Neuromuscular Disease Group and editorial team for their support and advice during the production of this protocol.

RB is an NIHR Academic Clinical Lecturer in Neurology, and is funded by an Academy of Medical Sciences Starter Grant for Clinical Lecturers (SGL027\1022) and received funding from a Wellcome Trust Research Training Fellowship (107196/Z/14/Z) and the UCL Leonard Wolfson Experimental Neurology Centre.

AAC is an NIHR Senior Investigator and receives support from the NIHR Maudsley BRC, and under the aegis of JPND – www.jpnd.eu(United Kingdom, Medical Research Council (MR/ L501529/1; MR/R024804/1) and Economic and Social Research Council (ES/L008238/1)) and through the Motor Neurone Disease Association.

This project was supported by the National Institute for Care and Health Research (NIHR) via Cochrane Infrastructure funding to Cochrane Neuromuscular. The views and opinions expressed herein are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the Systematic Reviews Programme, NIHR, National Health Service or the Department of Health. Cochrane Neuromuscular is also supported by the MRC Centre for Neuromuscular Disease and the Motor Neuron Disease Association.

We acknowledge the input of peer reviewers who include Karen Martin and Mamede de Carvalho, Faculty of Medicine, University of Lisbon.

Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



REFERENCES

Additional references

Abel 2012

Abel O, Powell JF, Andersen PM, Al-Chalabi A. ALSoD: a userfriendly online bioinformatics tool for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis genetics. *Human Mutation* 2012;**33**(9):1345-51.

Adhihetty 2008

Adhihetty PJ, Beal MF. Creatine and its potential therapeutic value for targeting cellular energy impairment in neurodegenerative diseases. *Neuromolecular Medicine* 2008;**10**(4):275-90.

Al-Chalabi 2011

Al-Chalabi A, Shaw PJ, Young CA, Morrison KE, Murphy C, Thornhill M, et al, UKMND-LiCALS. Protocol for a double-blind randomised placebo-controlled trial of lithium carbonate in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (LiCALS) [Eudract number: 2008-006891-31]. *BMC Neurology* 2011;**11**:111.

Al-Chalabi 2012

Al-Chalabi A, Jones A, Troakes C, King A, Al-Sarraj S, van den Berg LH. The genetics and neuropathology of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Acta Neuropathologica* 2012;**124**(3):339-52.

Al-Chalabi 2016

Al-Chalabi A, Hardiman O, Kiernan MC, Chiò A, Rix-Brooks B, van den Berg LH. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: moving towards a new classification system. *Lancet Neurology* 2016;**15**(11):1182-94.

Al-Chalabi 2017

Al-Chalabi A, van den Berg LH, Veldink J. Gene discovery in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: implications for clinical management. *Nature Reviews Neurology* 2017;**13**(2):96-104.

Al-Chalabi 2019a

Al-Chalabi A, Shaw P, Leigh PN, van den Berg L, Hardiman O, Ludolph A, et al. Oral levosimendan in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a phase II multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry* 2019;**90**(10):1165-70.

Al-Chalabi 2019b

Al-Chalabi A, Heunks LM, Papp Z, Pollesello P. Potential of the cardiovascular drug levosimendan in the management of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: an overview of a working hypothesis. *Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology* 2019;**74**(5):389-99.

Al-Chalabi 2021

Al-Chalabi A, Chiò A, Merrill C, Oster G, Bornheimer R, Agnese W, et al. Clinical staging in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: analysis of Edaravone Study 19. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry* 2021;**92**(2):165-71.

Alonso 2009

Alonso A, Logroscino G, Jick SS, Hernan MA. Incidence and lifetime risk of motor neuron disease in the United Kingdom:

a population-based study. *European Journal of Neurology* 2009;**16**(6):745-51.

ALSoD 2021

Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis online Database – ALSOD. www.alsod.ac.uk (accessed 1 October 2021).

Beauverd 2012

Beauverd M, Mitchell JD, Wokke JH, Borasio GD. Recombinant human insulin-like growth factor I (rhIGF-I) for the treatment of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2012, Issue 11. Art. No: CD002064. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002064.pub3]

Bensimon 1994

Bensimon G, Lacomblez L, Meininger V. A controlled trial of riluzole in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. ALS/Riluzole Study Group. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1994;**330**(9):585-91.

Bongioanni 2004

Bongioanni P, Reali C, Sogos V. Ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2004, Issue 3. Art. No: CD004302. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004302.pub2]

Bourke 2006

Bourke SC, Tomlinson M, Williams TL, Bullock RE, Shaw PJ, Gibson GJ. Effects of non-invasive ventilation on survival and quality of life in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Neurology* 2006;**5**(2):140-7.

Brooks 1994

Brooks BR. El Escorial World Federation of Neurology criteria for the diagnosis of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Subcommittee on Motor Neuron Diseases/Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis of the World Federation of Neurology Research Group on Neuromuscular Diseases and the El Escorial "Clinical limits of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis" workshop contributors. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences* 1994;**124**(Suppl):96-107.

Brooks 2000

Brooks BR, Miller RG, Swash M, Munsat TL, World Federation of Neurology Research Group on Motor Neuron Diseases. El Escorial revisited: revised criteria for the diagnosis of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis and Other Motor Neuron Disorders* 2000;**1**(5):293-9.

Brown 2017

Brown RH, Al-Chalabi A. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2017;**377**(2):162-72.

Buratti 2001

Buratti E, Baralle FE. Characterization and functional implications of the RNA binding properties of nuclear factor TDP-43, a novel splicing regulator of CFTR exon 9. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2001;**276**(39):36337-43.

Disease-modifying pharmacological treatments for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease: an overview of intervention reviews (Protocol)

Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Buratti 2004

Buratti E, Brindisi A, Pagani F, Baralle FE. Nuclear factor TDP-43 binds to the polymorphic TG repeats in CFTR intron 8 and causes skipping of exon 9: a functional link with disease penetrance. *American Journal of Human Genetics* 2004;**74**(6):1322-5.

Camu 2020

Camu W, Mickunas M, Veyrune JL, Payan C, Garlanda C, Locati M, et al. Repeated 5-day cycles of low dose aldesleukin in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (IMODALS): a phase 2a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *EBioMedicine* 2020;**59**:102844.

Chio 2013

Chio A, Logroscino G, Traynor BJ, Collins J, Simeone JC, Goldstein LA, et al. Global epidemiology of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a systematic review of the published literature. *Neuroepidemiology* 2013;**41**(2):118-30.

Crockford 2018

Crockford C, Newton J, Lonergan K, Chiwera T, Booth T, Chandran S, et al. ALS-specific cognitive and behavior changes associated with advancing disease stage in ALS. *Neurology* 2018;**91**(15):e1370-80.

Cudkowicz 2013

Cudkowicz ME, van den Berg LH, Shefner JM, Mitsumoto H, Mora JS, Ludolph A, et al, EMPOWER investigators. Dexpramipexole versus placebo for patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (EMPOWER): a randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Neurology* 2013;**12**(11):1059-67.

Cudkowicz 2021

Cudkowicz M, Genge A, Maragakis N, Petri S, van den Berg L, Aho VV, REFALS investigators. Safety and efficacy of oral levosimendan in people with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (the REFALS study): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. *Lancet Neurology* 2021;**20**(10):821-31.

de Carvalho 2008

de Carvalho M, Dengler R, Eisen A, England JD, Kaji R, Kimura J, et al. Electrodiagnostic criteria for diagnosis of ALS. *Clinical Neurophysiology* 2008;**119**(3):497-503.

De Jongh 2019

De Jongh AD, van Eijk RP, van den Berg LH. Evidence for a multimodal effect of riluzole in patients with ALS? *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry* 2019;**90**(10):1183-4.

DeJesus-Hernandez 2011

DeJesus-Hernandez M, Mackenzie IR, Boeve BF, Boxer AL, Baker M, Rutherford NJ, et al. Expanded GGGGCC hexanucleotide repeat in noncoding region of C9ORF72 causes chromosome 9p-linked FTD and ALS. *Neuron* 2011;**72**(2):245-56.

Diana 2017

Diana A, Pillai R, Bongioanni P, O'Keeffe AG, Miller RG, Moore DH. Gamma aminobutyric acid (GABA) modulators for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2017, Issue 1. Art. No: CD006049. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD006049.pub2]

Fang 2018

Fang T, Al Khleifat A, Meurgey JH, Jones A, Leigh PN, Bensimon G, et al. Stage at which riluzole treatment prolongs survival in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a retrospective analysis of data from a dose-ranging study. *Lancet Neurology* 2018;**17**(5):416-22.

Giovannelli 2021

Giovannelli I, Bayatti N, Brown A, Wang D, Mickunas M, Camu W, et al. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis transcriptomics reveals immunological effects of low-dose interleukin-2. *Brain Communications* 2021;**3**(3):fcab141.

Gold 2019

Gold J, Rowe DB, Kiernan MC, Vucic S, Mathers S, van Eijk RP, et al. Safety and tolerability of Triumeq in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: the Lighthouse trial. *Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis and Frontotemporal Degeneration* 2019;**20**(7-8):595-604.

Goodall 2006

Goodall EF, Morrison KE. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (motor neuron disease): proposed mechanisms and pathways to treatment. *Expert Reviews in Molecular Medicine* 2006;**8**(11):1-22.

Guyatt 2008

Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Vist GE, Kunz R, Falck-Ytter Y, Alonso-Coello P, et al. GRADE: an emerging consensus on rating quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. *BMJ (Clinical Research Ed.)* 2008;**336**(7650):924-6.

Hantai 1995

Hantai D, Akaaboune M, Lagord C, Murawsky M, Houenou LJ, Festoff BW, et al. Beneficial effects of insulin-like growth factor-I on wobbler mouse motoneuron disease. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences* 1995;**129**(Suppl):122-6.

Higgins 2017

Higgins JP, Green S, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.2 (updated June 2017). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2017. Available from training.cochrane.org/handbook/archive/v5.2/.

James 2022

James E, Ellis C, Brassington R, Sathasivam S, Young CA. Treatment for sialorrhea (excessive saliva) in people with motor neuron disease/amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2022, Issue 5. Art. No: CD006981. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD006981.pub3]

Johnston 2006

Johnston CA, Stanton BR, Turner MR, Gray R, Blunt AH, Butt D, et al. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in an urban setting: a population based study of inner city London. *Journal of Neurology* 2006;**253**(12):1642-3.

Disease-modifying pharmacological treatments for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease: an overview of intervention reviews (Protocol)

Copyright ${\small ©}$ 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Kiernan 2011

Kiernan MC, Vucic S, Cheah BC, Turner MR, Eisen A, Hardiman O, et al. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Lancet* 2011;**377**(9769):942-55.

Lacomblez 1996

Lacomblez L, Bensimon G, Leigh PN, Guillet P, Meininger V. Dose-ranging study of riluzole in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis/Riluzole Study Group II. *Lancet* 1996;**347**:1425-31.

Lenglet 2014

Lenglet T, Lacomblez L, Abitbol JL, Ludolph A, Mora JS, Robberecht W, et al, Mitotarget study group. A phase II–III trial of olesoxime in subjects with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *European Journal of Neurology* 2014;**21**(3):529-36.

Ling 2013

Ling SC, Polymenidou M, Cleveland DW. Converging mechanisms in ALS and FTD: disrupted RNA and protein homeostasis. *Neuron* 2013;**79**(3):416-38.

Marangi 2015

Marangi G, Traynor BJ. Genetic causes of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: new genetic analysis methodologies entailing new opportunities and challenges. *Brain Research* 2015;**1607**:75-93.

Mercado 2005

Mercado PA, Ayala YM, Romano M, Buratti E, Baralle FE. Depletion of TDP 43 overrides the need for exonic and intronic splicing enhancers in the human apoA-II gene. *Nucleic Acids Research* 2005;**33**(18):6000-10.

Miller 2012

Miller RG, Mitchell JD, Moore DH. Riluzole for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS)/motor neuron disease (MND). *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2012, Issue 3. Art. No: CD001447. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001447.pub3]

Mitsumoto 1994

Mitsumoto H, Ikeda K, Holmlund T, Greene T, Cedarbaum JM, Wong V, et al. The effects of ciliary neurotrophic factor on motor dysfunction in wobbler mouse motor neuron disease. *Annals of Neurology* 1994;**36**(2):142-8.

Mitsumoto 2014

Mitsumoto H, Brooks BR, Silani V. Clinical trials in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: why so many negative trials and how can trials be improved? *Lancet Neurology* 2014;**13**(11):1127-38.

Neumann 2006

Neumann M, Sampathu DM, Kwong LK, Truax AC, Micsenyi MC, Chou TT, et al. Ubiquitinated TDP-43 in frontotemporal lobar degeneration and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Science* 2006;**314**(5796):130-3.

Ng 2017

Ng L, Khan F, Young CA, Galea M. Symptomatic treatments for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2017, Issue 1. Art. No: CD011776. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011776.pub2]

NICE 2019

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Motor neurone disease: assessment and management. NICE guideline (NG42), 2016, updated 23 July 2019. www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ ng42 (accessed prior to 8 December 2022).

Niebroj-Dobosz 1999

Niebroj-Dobosz I, Janik P. Amino acids acting as transmitters in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica* 1999;**100**(1):6-11.

Orrell 2007

Orrell RW, Lane RJ, Ross M. Antioxidant treatment for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2007, Issue 1. Art. No: CD002829. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002829.pub4]

Pastula 2012

Pastula DM, Moore DH, Bedlack RS. Creatine for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2012, Issue 12. Art. No: CD005225. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD005225.pub3]

Pollock 2021

Pollock M, Fernandes RM, Becker LA, Pieper D, Hartling L. Chapter V: Overviews of reviews. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 6.2 (updated February 2021). Cochrane, 2021 Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.

Radunovic 2017

Radunovic A, Annane D, Rafiq MK, Brassington R, Mustfa N. Mechanical ventilation for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2017, Issue 10. Art. No: CD004427. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004427.pub4]

Rao 2004

Rao SD, Weiss JH. Excitotoxic and oxidative cross-talk between motor neurons and glia in ALS pathogenesis. *Trends in Neurosciences* 2004;**27**(1):17-23.

Renton 2011

Renton AE, Majounie E, Waite A, Simon-Sanchez J, Rollinson S, Gibbs JR, et al. A hexanucleotide repeat expansion in C9ORF72 is the cause of chromosome 9p21-linked ALS-FTD. *Neuron* 2011;**72**(2):257-68.

Renton 2014

Renton AE, Chio A, Traynor BJ. State of play in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis genetics. *Nature Neuroscience* 2014;**17**(1):17-23.

RevMan Web 2022 [Computer program]

The Cochrane Collaboration Review Manager Web (RevMan Web). Version 4.12.0. The Cochrane Collaboration, 2022. Available at revman.cochrane.org.

Disease-modifying pharmacological treatments for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease: an overview of intervention reviews (Protocol)

Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Ringholz 2005

Ringholz GM, Appel SH, Bradshaw M, Cooke NA, Mosnik DM, Schulz PE. Prevalence and patterns of cognitive impairment in sporadic ALS. *Neurology* 2005;**65**(4):586-90.

Robberecht 2013

Robberecht W, Philips T. The changing scene of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 2013;**14**(4):248-64.

Selvaraj 2013

Selvaraj BT, Sendtner M. CNTF, STAT3 and new therapies for axonal degeneration: what are they and what can they do? *Expert Review of Neurotherapeutics* 2013;**13**(3):239-41.

Sendtner 1992

Sendtner M, Schmalbruch H, Stockli KA, Carroll P, Kreutzberg GW, Thoenen H. Ciliary neurotrophic factor prevents degeneration of motor neurons in mouse mutant progressive motor neuronopathy. *Nature* 1992;**358**(6386):502-4.

Shaw 1995

Shaw PJ, Forrest V, Ince PG, Richardson JP, Wastell HJ. CSF and plasma amino acid levels in motor neuron disease: elevation of CSF glutamate in a subset of patients. *Neurodegeneration: a Journal for Neurodegenerative Disorders, Neuroprotection, and Neuroregeneration* 1995;**4**(2):209-16.

Shea 2009

Shea BJ, Hamel C, Wells GA, Bouter LM, Kristjansson E, Grimshaw J, et al. AMSTAR is a reliable and valid measurement tool to assess the methodological quality of systematic reviews. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2009;**62**(10):1013-20.

Shea 2017

Shea BJ, Reeves BC, Wells G, Thuku M, Hamel C, Moran J, et al. AMSTAR 2: a critical appraisal tool for systematic reviews that include randomised or non-randomised studies of healthcare interventions, or both. *BMJ* 2017;**358**:j4008.

Shefner 2016

Shefner JM, Wolff AA, Meng L, Bian A, Lee J, Barragan D, et al, BENEFIT-ALS Study Group. A randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind phase IIb trial evaluating the safety and efficacy of tirasemtiv in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis and Frontotemporal Degeneration* 2016;**17**(5-6):426-35.

Shefner 2019

Shefner JM, Cudkowicz ME, Hardiman O, Cockcroft BM, Lee JH, Malik FI, et al, VITALITY-ALS Study Group. A phase III trial of tirasemtiv as a potential treatment for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis and Frontotemporal Degeneration* 2019;**0**(0):1-11.

Shefner 2020

Shefner JM, Al-Chalabi A, Baker MR, Cui LY, de Carvalho M, Eisen A, et al. A proposal for new diagnostic criteria for ALS. *Clinical Neurophysiology* 2020;**131**(8):1975-8.

Sreedharan 2008

Sreedharan J, Blair IP, Tripathi VB, Hu X, Vance C, Rogelj B, et al. TDP-43 mutations in familial and sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Science* 2008;**319**(5870):1668-72.

Thakore 2020

Thakore NJ, Lapin BR, Pioro EP, Pooled Resource Open-Access ALS Clinical Trials Consortium. Stage-specific riluzole effect in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a retrospective study. *Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis and Frontotemporal Degeneration* 2020;**21**(1-2):140-3.

Turner 2003

Turner MR, Parton MJ, Shaw CE, Leigh PN, Al-Chalabi A. Prolonged survival in motor neuron disease: a descriptive study of the King's database 1990–2002. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry* 2003;**74**(7):995-7.

Turner 2013

Turner MR, Talbot K. Mimics and chameleons in motor neurone disease. *Practical Neurology* 2013;**13**(3):153.

UKMND-LiCALS Study Group 2013

UKMND-LiCALS Study Group. Lithium in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (LiCALS): a phase 3 multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Neurology* 2013;**12**(4):339-45.

van den Berg 2019

van den Berg LH, Sorenson E, Gronseth G, Macklin EA, Andrews J, Baloh RH, et al. Revised Airlie House consensus guidelines for design and implementation of ALS clinical trials. *Neurology* 2019;**92**(14):e1610-23.

van Eijk 2017

Van Eijk RP, Jones AR, Sproviero W, Shatunov A, Shaw PJ, Leigh PN, for UKMND-LiCALS and LITALS Study Group. Metaanalysis of pharmacogenetic interactions in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis clinical trials. *Neurology* 2017;**89**(18):1915-22.

Vance 2009

Vance C, Rogelj B, Hortobagyi T, De Vos KJ, Nishimura AL, Sreedharan J, et al. Mutations in FUS, an RNA processing protein, cause familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis type 6. *Science* 2009;**323**(5918):1208-11.

Writing Group 2017

Writing Group, Edaravone ALS Study Group. Safety and efficacy of edaravone in well defined patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Neurology* 2017;**16**(7):505-12.



APPENDICES

Appendix 1. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews search strategy

[mh "Motor Neuron Disease"] or (Motor Neuron Disease* or Motor Neurone Disease* or Motoneuron Disease* or Motoneurone Disease or Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis):ti,ab

in Cochrane Reviews and Cochrane Protocols

Appendix 2. MEDLINE search strategy

1 exp Motor Neuron Disease/ or Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis/ or (Motor Neuron Disease* or Motor Neurone Disease* or Motoneurone Disease or Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis).ti,ab.

2 Meta-Analysis as Topic/ or Meta-Analysis/ or exp Review Literature as Topic/ or (Meta Analy\$ or Metaanaly\$ or (Systematic adj (Review\$1 or Overview\$1))).tw. or (Cochrane or Embase or CINAHL or CINHAL or Science Citation Index or MEDLINE or PubMed or Reference List\$ or Bibliograph\$ or Hand-Search\$ or Relevant Journals or Manual Search\$).ab. or (Review/ and (Selection Criteria or Data Extraction).ab.)

3 Comment/ or Letter/ or Editorial/

4 Animal/ not (Animal/ and Human/)

5 (1 and 2) not (3 or 4)

Appendix 3. Embase search strategy

1 exp Motor Neuron Disease/ or Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis/ or (Motor Neuron Disease* or "Motor Neurone Disease* or Motoneurone Disease* or Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis).ti,ab.

2 exp Meta Analysis/ or ((Meta adj Analy\$) or Metaanalys\$).tw. or (Systematic adj (Review\$1 or Overview\$1)).tw. or (Cochrane or Embase or CINAHL or CINHAL or Science Citation Index or MEDLINE or PubMed or Reference List\$ or Bibliograph\$ or Hand-Search\$ or Relevant Journals or Manual Search\$).ab. or ((Data Extraction or Selection Criteria).ab. and Review.pt.)

3 (Letter or Editorial).pt.

4 Animal/ not (Animal/ and Human/)

5 (1 and 2) not (3 or 4)

Appendix 4. Epistemonikos search strategy

Advanced Search

(title:(Motor Neuron Disease OR Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis) OR abstract:(Motor Neuron Disease OR Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis))

Publication type: Broad Synthesis or Structured Summary or Systematic Review

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

RB drafted the protocol.

RO: provided comments and approved the submission.

NP: provided comments and approved the submission.

AAC: provided comments and approved the submission.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

RB is an author of a potentially eligible Cochrane Review update in development entitled "Antioxidant treatment for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis or motor neuron disease". She declares institutional grants from the University College London (UCL) Leonard Wolfson Experimental Neurology Centre from 2013 to 2018 and the Wellcome Trust, and support from the National Institute of Health and Care Research (NIHR) as NIHR Academic Clinical Fellow 2011 to 2013 and NIHR Academic Clinical Lecturer 2020 to 2024. She works at the National Hospital for Neurology and Neurosurgery, London.

RO is an author of a potentially eligible Cochrane Review update in development entitled "Antioxidant treatment for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis or motor neuron disease". He is a member of the Cochrane Neuromuscular editorial board but will play no part in the editorial process for this review. He is engaged in research and clinical activity as associate professor and consultant neurologist in ALS, (UCL),

Disease-modifying pharmacological treatments for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease: an overview of intervention reviews (Protocol)

Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



University College London NHS Hospitals Foundation Trust, Royal Free London, East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust and private practice.

NP has no known commercial conflicts of interest.

AAC works as a Consultant Neurologist specialising in ALS/MND at King's College Hospital (KCL), is Director of the King's MND Care and Research Centre, and is Co-lead for the NIHR Maudsley Biomedical Research Centre Neuropsychiatry and Psychosis theme. He is Executive Board Member of TRICALS, a not-for-profit organisation for trial delivery; Programme Board Chair for the International Alliance of ALS/ MND Associations; and Scientific Advisory Board member of AMG Healey Center Massachusetts General Hospital. He declares the following payments from commercial organisations:

- Payments to institution (with personal benefit or control/access to funds) from:
 - Amylyx Pharmaceuticals (trial interpretation and design, Principal Investigator (PI));
 - Apellis (consultancy, PI and Chief Investigator (CI));
 - Biogen Idec (consultancy, educational roles, PI, scientific advisory boards, mutation adjudication);
 - Brainstorm Therapeutics (consultancy);
 - Cytokinetics Inc (consultancy, educational roles, PI, CI, scientific advisory boards, mutation adjudication);
 - Eli Lilly and Company (consultancy, educational roles);
 - GlaxoSmithKline (consultancy, educational roles);
 - Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation (consultancy, PI, trial design, collaborative research on clinical staging);
 - Novartis Gene Therapies, Inc. (formerly known as AveXis Inc) (consultancy related to ALS);
 - Orion Corporation (clinical trial design, scientific advisory board, PI, CI);
 - Quralis (consultancy, scientific advisory board, CI, PI);
- WaVe (consultancy, trial design, scientific advisory board, PI).
- Oxford University Press: annual stipend and travel costs as Deputy Editor of Brain (Oxford University Press).
- Book royalties: The Beginner's Guide to the Brain (Oneworld Publications) and Complex Disease Genetics: a Laboratory Manual (Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press).
- Private ALS/MND practice via KCL.

He has published opinions relevant to the interventions in the work: an opinion piece on genetics in ALS/MND (*Nature*), an editorial on gene therapy in ALS/MND (*New England Journal of Medicine*), appearance on BBC Breakfast TV talking about ALS/MND and its treatment (BBC), discussion panels on ALS/MND treatment (ALS Association, USA), various recorded talks, patient-research forums and presentations on YouTube, and published reviews on ALS/MND (*Lancet, Lancet Neurology, Nature Reviews Neurology, Nature Reviews Neuroscience, New England Journal of Medicine*). A signatory on the ENCALS declaration for Edaravone (www.encals.eu/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/ENCALS-statement-on-edaravone-FINAL.pdf).

Affiliations/relationships with organisations with a declared opinion or position on clinical trials in ALS (all agree they should be taking place and accelerated in ALS): ENCALS, TRICALS, NINDS/NIH, NIHR, MND Association, ALS Association, My Name'5 Doddie Foundation, MND Scotland, ALS Canada and the International Alliance of ALS/MND Associations.

Involvement in studies relevant to the topic of the review (with funding source(s)):

- OrionPharma: Cudkowicz 2021; Al-Chalabi 2019a; Al-Chalabi 2019b.
- Cytokinetics Inc: Shefner 2016; Shefner 2019.
- Medical Research Council (MRC) through EU Joint Programme Neurodegenerative Disease Research (JPND): Fang 2018.
- Biogen: Cudkowicz 2013.
- European Commission Horizon 2020: Camu 2020.
- European Commission FP7: Al-Chalabi 2011; Giovannelli 2021; Lenglet 2014; UKMND-LiCALS Study Group 2013.
- Fight MND; MND Research Institute of Australia; MND Association of England, Wales and Northern Ireland; GSK; supply of Triumeq by ViiV Healthcare: Gold 2019.
- MND Association: van Eijk 2017.
- Reanalysis of a commercial clinical trial from Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma using King's Clinical Staging the original study was funded by Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma; the reanalysis was not funded but was a collaboration: Al-Chalabi 2021.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR), Wellcome Trust, UCL Leonard Wolfson Experimental Neurology Centre, UK



RB is NIHR Academic Clinical Lecturer in Neurology and received funding from a Wellcome Trust Research Training Fellowship [107196/ Z/14/Z] and the UCL Leonard Wolfson Experimental Neurology Centre.

• Various, UK

AAC is an NIHR Senior Investigator and receives support from the NIHR Maudsley BRC, and under the aegis of JPND - www.jpnd.eu(United Kingdom, Medical Research Council (MR/L501529/1; MR/R024804/1) and Economic and Social Research Council (ES/L008238/1)) and through the Motor Neurone Disease Association.

• Academy of Medical Sciences Starter Grant for Clinical Lecturers , UK

Academy of Medical Sciences Starter Grant for Clinical Lecturers (SGL027\1022)

External sources

• NIHR, MNDA, UK

This project was supported by the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR) via Cochrane Infrastructure funding to Cochrane Neuromuscular. The views and opinions expressed therein are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the Systematic Reviews Programme, NIHR, NHS or the Department of Health. Cochrane Neuromuscular is also supported by the MRC Centre for Neuromuscular Disease and the Motor Neuron Disease Association.